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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

R. CATHY REARDON, on behalf of )
herself and all similarly situated )
individuals, )
) 2:08-cv-01730
Plaintiffs, )
) Judge Mark R. Hornak
v, )
)
CLOSETMAID CORPORATION, )
)
Defendant. )
OPINION

Mark R. Hornak, United States District Judge

This is a civil action brought pursuant to the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681,
et seq. (the “FCRA™). Plaintiff Cathy Reardon, on behalf of herself and all similarly situated
individuals, alleges that the Defendant, ClosetMaid Corporation (“ClosetMaid™), disqualified
applicants for employment on the basis of consumer reports in a manner violative of the FCRA.
Specifically, Plaintiffs allege that ClosetMaid obtained and relied upon consumer reports without
obtaining the appropriate disclosures specifically required by 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2)(A) (the
“Disclosure Claim”). Plaintiffs further allege that ClosetMaid failed to provide applicants for
employment a reasonable amount of time to dispute the information contained in the consumer
reports, and requisite statutory notice of adverse action, prior to refusing to hire them based on
such reports, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3) (the “Pre-Adverse Action Claim”).

Plaintiffs seek statutory and punitive damages and attorneys’ fees.
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This case is currently set for trial beginning January 6, 2014. The parties have filed
cross-motions for summary judgment, ECF Nos. 90, 94. In addition, ClosetMaid has moved to
decertify the Pre-Adverse Action Sub-Class, ECF No. 98, and Plaintiffs have moved to strike the
declarations submitted by three ClosetMaid Human Resource Representatives (the
“Declarations™), ECF No. 108. For the following reasons, both the Plaintiffs’ Motions for
Summary Judgment and ClosetMaid’s Motions will be granted in part and denied in part.
Specifically, with respect to the Disclosure Claim, Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment as
to liability and willfulness as to certain members of the Disclosure Class is granted and is denied
in all other respects. With respect to the Pre-Adverse Action Claim, ClosetMaid’s Motion for
Summary Judgment as to the 22 members of that Sub-Class who experienced no adverse
employment action at all, and as to the 3 members who were provided with pre-adverse action
notices sufficiently in advance of ClosetMaid’s adverse action against them to fulfill the
applicable statutory requirements is granted, and is denied in all other respects. ClosetMaid’s
Motion to Decertify and Plaintiffs’ Motion to Strike are also both denied, but without prejudice.

I. BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background

On December 13, 2006, Ms. Reardon applied for a job as a Territory Supervisor for
ClosetMaid. As part of the employment application, ClosetMaid provided Ms. Reardon with a
document entitled, “Authorization to Obtain a Consumer Credit Report and Release of
Information for Employment Purposes” (the “Authorization Form™), as well as a second

document entitled, “Notice of Intent to Obtain a Consumer Credit Report” (the “Notice Form™).

" In this regard, the parties have each filed a swarm of motions in /imine, ECF Nos. 140-156 inclusive, a number of
which touch on matters related to these Motions. The Court has examined those filings to see if they impact the
dispositions set out in this Opinion. They do not. This Opinion, however, may impact the necessity for, or direction
of, one or more of those motions /n limine. That will be addressed at the pretrial conference set for later this month.
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See ECF No. 97-6 at 3-9. The Authorization Form provides that “[pJursuant to [the FCRA], I
hereby authorize ClosetMaid . . . to conduct a comprehensive review of my background through
a consumer report and/or investigative consumer report.” Id. at 5. The Authorization Form also
contains a waiver of rights provision, which states that “I hereby release ClosetMaid . . . from
any and all liability for damages of whatever kind, which may at any time, result to me . . .
because of compliance with this authorization and request to release.” JId. The Notice Form
provides that “as a condition of my consideration for employment with ClosetMaid, [. . .]
ClosetMaid may obtain a consumer report.” Id. at 3. The Notice Form further provides that
“pursuant to the [FCRA], if any adverse action is to be taken based upon [a] consumer report, a
copy of the report and summary of the consumer’s rights will be provided to me if requested.”
Id  Ms. Reardon signed both documents and returned them to ClosetMaid along with her
employment application.

During the time period between Ms. Reardon’s application date and July 1, 2009, when
ClosetMaid began using different notice and authorization forms altogether, ClosetMaid
included an Authorization Form as part of every employment application provided to applicants
whom ClosetMaid was interested in pursuing. ECF No. 95; ClosetMaid Concise Statement of
Material Facts (“ClosetMaid SOF”) § 13. ClosetMaid did not, however, always include a Notice
Form. ECF No. 93-3 at 16; Reardon Responsive Concise Statement of Material Facts
(“Plaintiffs RSOF”) ¢ 13 (citing ECF No. 93-3 (Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(b)(6) Deposition of
ClosetMaid Corporation (Catherine Beal, designated) (“ClosetMaid Dep.”)) at 59:10-18). In
fact, the Notice Form was discontinued at some point for purposes of “simplification.” Id.

According to Jennifer Boring, a Human Resources Representative at ClosetMaid,
ClosetMaid’s employment application and hiring procedures were position-specific and are “not

necessarily a linear process.” ECF No. 93-4 (Deposition of Jennifer Boring (“Boring Dep.”)) at
3
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51:17-18. Catherine Beal, ClosetMaid’s Vice President of Human Resources, testified that
ClosetMaid’s procurement and review of an applicant’s consumer report occurred towards the
end of the recruiting process and only for applicants whom ClosetMaid has “selected to hire.”
ECF No. 93-3, ClosetMaid Dep. at 49:10-50:12. However, according to Ms. Beal the review of
an applicant’s consumer report was not necessarily the absolutely, positively final step in the
application process. Id. at 66:19-67:08. For example, ClosetMaid also might have subjected
applicants to some additional pre-hire processes, such as drug testing. /d.

After receiving Ms. Reardon’s employment application, ClosetMaid obtained a consumer
report about her from LexisNexis. That report contained negative information, which Ms.
Reardon contends is incorrect. On December 18, 2006, ClosetMaid sent a letter to Ms. Reardon
enclosing the consumer report and a summary of rights under the FCRA (the “Pre-Adverse
Action Notice”). ECF. No. 97-10 at 2. In that letter, ClosetMaid stated that it would wait “five
business days from the date of this letter before it makes a decision on your application.” On
December 22, 2006, four business days later, ClosetMaid sent Ms. Reardon a second letter (the
“Adverse Action Notice™) stating that “[t]he Company has now decided not to offer you the
position you applied for based in whole or in part upon” the consumer report. ECF No. 97-11 at
2.

Plaintiffs contend that from December 1, 2006 to June 30, 2009, ClosetMaid obtained
consumer reports as to 1,829 job applicants, 1,494 of whom were hired, and 299 who were not
hired. Plaintiffs RSOF 945 (citing Beal Dep. Ex. 9). According to Plaintiffs, ClosetMaid has
sent to only 3 individuals, not including Ms. Reardon, a copy of his or her consumer report and a
summary of rights under the FCRA. Plaintiffs RSOF §44. In each of those 3 instances,
ClosetMaid sent the pre-adverse action notice on May 1, 2008, and the adverse action notice on

May 13, 2008, 8 business days later. See ECF. No. 93-11 at Exhibit A.
4
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B. Procedural Background

This action was originally filed on December 19, 2008.% In the First Amended Class
Action Complaint (“FAC”) filed on April 16, 2009, Ms. Reardon sought to represent individuals
who executed forms permitting ClosetMaid to obtain a consumer report as part of an
employment application (the “Disclosure Class”™) and, within that class, a sub-class of individuals
whom ClosetMaid did not hire based in whole or in part upon information contained in the
consumer report (the “Pre-Adverse Action Sub-Class™). FAC 9 44, ECF No. 16. On April 27,
2011, the Court entered an order granting class certification noting that “[i}f it becomes clear that
most [hiring] decisions were not made in a centralized fashion, ClosetMaid should move for
decertification of, at a minimum, the subclass.” ECF No. 51 at 17; 2011 WL 1628041 (W.D. Pa.
Apr. 27, 2011). The Disclosure Class purportedly consists of approximately 1,800 individuals
and the Pre-Adverse Action Sub-Class consists of approximately 77 individuals.

On May 24, 2013, Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment As to Liability
seeking summary judgment as to (1) all individuals in the Disclosure Class who signed a
disclosure/consent form containing a waiver of rights provision, and (2) all individuals in the
Pre-Adverse Action Sub-Class. Plaintiffs properly excluded from their motion all individuals
who submitted Exclusion Requests pursuant to the September 28, 2012 Notice of Class Action.?
ECF No. 90 Ex. 1. On the same day, ClosetMaid filed its Motion for Summary Judgment
against Plaintiffs as to all claims, ECF No. 94, and its Motion to Decertify the Pre-Adverse

Action Sub-Class, ECF No. 98. On June 25, 2013, Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Strike the

? This action was originally assigned to the late Chief Judge Gary L. Lancaster and, following his untimely death,
was transferred to this member of our Court on May 16, 2013. ECF No. 88.

* Once an individual submits an Exclusion Request and opts out of a class action, she is completely excluded from
the suit, and has no standing to participate or object to any proposed settlement or appeal, but is not bound by the
preclusive effect of the class suit and may pursue her own litigation as she sees fit. See Drelles v. Metropolitan Life
Ins. Co., 357 F.3d 344 (3d Cir. 2003).

5
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Declarations of ClosetMaid Human Resources Representatives Jennifer Boring, Patricia
Dameron, and Merlyn Hernandez-Opio. ECF No. 108,

Oral argument was held on July 19, 2013. On August 2, 2013, the parties, at the Court’s
request, submitted supplemental briefing to address the factual issue of how and when in the
hiring process ClosetMaid used an applicant’s consumer report to assess the applicant’s
qualifications, and to identify the record evidence relating to this issue. ECF Nos. 125-126.

IL STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Summary Judgment — Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56

Summary judgment is appropriate when “there is no genuine dispute as to any material
fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law,” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a); Celotex
Corp., v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986). The parties must support their position by
“citing to particular parts of materials in the record, including depositions, documents,
electronically stored information, affidavits or declarations, stipulations (including those made
for purposes of the motion only), admissions, interrogatory answers, or other materials.” Fed. R.
Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(A). In other words, summary judgment may be granted only if there exists no
genuine issue of material fact that would permit a reasonable jury to find for the nonmoving
party measured against the standard fixed by the applicable substantive law. See Anderson v.
Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 250 (1986).

In reviewing the record evidence submitted, the court is to draw all reasonable inferences
in favor of the non-moving party. See Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc., 530 U.S. 133,
150 (2000); Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 587-88 (1986);
Huston v. Procter & Gamble Paper Prod. Corp., 568 F.3d 100, 104 (3d Cir. 2009) (citations
omitted). 1t is not the court’s role to weigh the disputed evidence and decide which is more

probative, or to make credibility determinations. See Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255; Marino v.
6 ‘
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Indus. Crating Co., 358 F.3d 241, 247 (3d Cir. 2004); Boyle v. Cnty. of Allegheny, 139 F.3d 386,
393 (3d Cir. 1998). “Only disputes over facts that might affect the outcome of the suit under the
governing law will properly preclude the entry of summary judgment.” Anderson, 477 U.S. at
247-48. Anissue is “genuine” if a reasonable jury could possibly hold in the non-movant’s favor
with regard to that issue. See id. “Where the record taken as a whole could not lead a reasonable
trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, there is no ‘genuine issue for trial.”” Matsushita,
475 U.S. at 587; Huston, 568 F.3d at 104.

B. Motion to Strike — Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(f)

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(f) permits a court to strike “an insufficient defense or
any redundant, immaterial, impertinent, or scandalous matter.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(f). “The
purpose of a motion to strike is to clean up the pleadings, streamline litigation, and avoid
unnecessary forays into immaterial matters.” Craker v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., No. 11-
0225, 2011 WL 1671634, at *5 (W.D. Pa. May 3, 2011) (citation omitted). Motions to strike
under Rule 12(f) are committed to the discretion of the district court, but will usually be denied
unless the allegations have no possible relation to the controversy, will cause unfair prejudice, or
will confuse the issues in the case. Adams v. Cnty. of Erie, 2009 WL 4016636, at *1 (W.D. Pa.
Nov. 19, 2009) (citations omitted).

C. Motion to Decertify — Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(c)(1)(C)

“An order that grants or denies class certification may be altered or amended before final
judgment.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(c)(1)(C). Pursuant to this rule, district courts may decertify a
class where appropriate after the case develops. See Barnes v. Am. Tobacco Co., 161 F.3d 127,
140 (3d Cir. 1998). In making the determination of whether to amend or reconsider a class
certification, courts have routinely made such assessments under an analysis that focuses on

whether changed circumstances have arisen in the case. See, e.g., Eisenberg v. Gagnon, 766
7
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F.2d 770, 787 (3d Cir. 1985) (noting that “class actions depend on the continuing supervision of
the district court, including reconsideration of the efficacy of class action treatment as the
circumstances change™); In re General Motors Corp. Pick-Up Truck Fuel Tank Prod. Liab.
Litig., 55 F.3d 768, 793 n. 14 (3d Cir. 1995) (“Under Rule 23(c)(1), the court retains the
authority to re-define or decertify the class until the entry of final judgment on the merits.”).

A district court “retains the discretion to decertify or modify the class so that the class
action encompasses only the issues that are truly common to the class.” Baby Neal for & by
Kanter v. Casey, 43 F.3d 48, 63 (3d Cir. 1994). See also Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(c)(4); Sullivan v. DB
Investments, Inc., 667 F.3d 273, 322 (3d Cir. 2011) (“[D]istrict court retains the authority to
decertify or modify a class at any time during the litigation if it proves to be unmanageable.”)
(citation omitted).

I1I.  DISCUSSION

A. Disclosure Claims Under 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)}(2)(A)

As noted above, Plaintiffs allege that ClosetMaid violated the FCRA by failing to provide
the appropriate disclosures to applicants for employment prior to obtaining their consumer
reports, in violation of section 1681b(b)(2)(A). Specifically, Plaintiffs contend that ClosetMaid’s
inclusion of a waiver of rights provision in the Authorization Form contravenes the FCRA’s
requirement that a “clear and conspicuous” disclosure appear “in a document that consists solely
of the disclosure.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2)(A)(i) (emphasis added). Finally, Plaintiffs argue
that ClosetMaid’s violation of the FCRA’s disclosure requirement was willful as a matter of law,
thereby triggering an award of damages under section 1681n{a)(1)(A).

1. Sufficiency of the Disclosure
Pursuant to the FCRA, consumer reports may be issued to employers for “employment

purposes.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(a)(3)(B). An employment purpose is defined as a purpose
8
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relating to the evaluation of “a consumer for employment, promotion, reassignment or retention
as an employee.” 15 U.S.C. § 168la(h). The FCRA requires, in pertinent part, that prior to
procuring a consumer report on an applicant for employment, an employer must: (1) provide a
clear and conspicuous disclosure to each applicant in writing “that a consumer report may be
obtained for employment purposes™; and (2) obtain the applicant’s authorization for the report in
writing. 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2)(A). Section 1681b(b)(2)(A)(i) specifies that the disclosure
must be made in writing “in a document that consists solely of the disclosure.” Section
1681b(b)(2)(A)(ii) allows for the authorization to be made in the same document as the
disclosure.

The FCRA does not define the term “clear and conspicuous,” and there is little case law
interpreting the term as used in section 1681b. According to the Court of Appeals for the
Seventh Circuit, “it is appropriate to draw upon the wealth of [Uniform Commercial Code
(*UCC”)] and [Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”)] case law in determining the meaning of ‘clear
and conspicuous’ under the FCRA.” See Cole v. U.S. Capital, 389 F.3d 719, 730 (7th Cir. 2004).
See also Stevenson v. TRW Inc., 987 F.2d 288, 295-96 (5th Cir. 1993) (interpreting “clear and
conspicuous” language used in section 1681i(d) of the FCRA with reference to TILA and UCC
cases). Our Court of Appeals has interpreted a “clear and conspicuous”™ disclosure to mean, in
the context of the TILA, “in a reasonably understandable form and readily noticeable to the
consumer.” See Rossman v. Fleet Bank (R.I) Nat. Ass’n, 280 F.3d 384, 390 (3d Cir. 2002)
(citing 15 U.S.C. § 1632(a)). The UCC defines conspicuous as “so written, displayed, or
presented that a reasonable person against which it is to operate ought to have noticed it.”
U.C.C. § 1-201(b)(10). Other courts have regarded a FCRA disclosure as being non-
conspicuous where it was printed in small type, on the back of a document, when it is the same

size and typeface as the terms around it, or when it is not in boldface or capital lettering. See,
9
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e.g., Murray v. GMAC Mortg. Corp., 274 Fed. Appx. 489, 490-91 (7th Cir. 2008) (disclosure
was not “conspicuous” within the meaning of FCRA requirements where it appeared on backside
of solicitation flyer and occupied two of ten paragraphs all in the same size type); Cole, 389 F.3d
at 731 (disclosure not “clear and conspicuous™ where it was made in a paragraph at very bottom
of flyer, printed in font size that was no larger than six-point, and that was not set oft from
remainder of text in any way); Murray v. Sunrise Chevrolet, Inc., 441 F, Supp. 2d 940, 948 (N.D.
[ll. 2006) (disclosure was not “clear and conspicuous” where notice appeared in a single
paragraph at the bottom of a flyer and was printed in the smallest typeface on the page).

Here, there is no dispute that Ms. Reardon received and signed both the Notice Form and
Authorization Form.  Plaintiffs concede that “[blJoth forms include FCRA disclosures
[describing] the nature and scope of consumer reports to be obtained.” ECF No. 100 at 16.
Therefore, to the extent that at least one of the two forms provided applicants with a proper
disclosure under section 1681b(b)(2)(A)(i), Ms. Reardon’s disclosure claim, as well as that of
any other Disclosure Class member who received both forms, must fail.

The first sentence of ClosetMaid’s Notice Form, a document which contains only two
paragraphs in medium-size typeface, states as follows:

“] understand that as a condition of my consideration for employment with

ClosetMaid, or as a condition of my continued employment with ClosetMaid may

obtain [sic] a consumer report . ...”

ECF No. 97-6 at 3. Although the language of the Notice Form may have been inartfully worded,
the disclosure is in a reasonably understandable form, the amount of text on the page is minimal,
and the disclosure appears in the opening sentence of the document such that it is readily
noticeable to the consumer. Accordingly, the disclosure contained in the Notice Form provided
is, for FCRA purposes, a legally sufficiently clear and conspicuous disclosure of ClosetMaid’s

intent to procure a consumer report for employment purposes. In addition, the disclosure in the
10



Case 2:08-cv-01730-MRH Document 157 Filed 12/02/13 Page 11 of 38

Notice Form otherwise complies with the requirements of section 1681b(b)(2)(A) because it
appears in a document that consists only of the disclosure and authorization, a combination that
is expressly authorized by section 1681b(b)(2)(A)(ii).

Plaintiffs” argument that the Notice Form did not operate as a legally sufficient disclosure
because “it failed to disclose [ClosetMaid’s] intention to also obtain an ‘investigative consumer
report’” misses the mark. ECF No. 100 at 17. Section 1681d(a)(1) of the FCRA provides that
prior to procuring an investigative consumer report, a disclosure must be provided to the
consumer “that an investigative consumer report including information as to [the consumer’s]
character, general reputation, personal characteristics, and mode of living, whichever are
applicable, may be made.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681d(a)(1). Here, there is simply no evidence to
suggest that ClosetMaid procured an “investigative consumer report” for any member of the
Disclosure Class, nor any evidence that ClosetMaid intended to procure such a report.
Therefore, ClosetMaid’s mention of “investigative report” in the Authorization Form is merely
superfluous and not reflective of a statutory obligation or a violation of such an obligation.
Therefore, any member of the Disclosure Class, including Ms. Reardon, who received a Notice
Form in addition to an Authorization Form was necessarily provided a legally sufficient form of
disclosure via the Notice Form in accordance with section 1681b(b)(2)(A), and summary

judgment is granted in favor of ClosetMaid as to such persons relative to their disclosure claims.*

* The resulting failure of Ms. Reardon’s “disclosure” claim has no effect on the viability of the entire action. It is
well settled that once a class has been certified, mooting a class representative’s claim does not moot the entire
action because the class “acquire[s] a legal status separate from the interest asserted by [the named plaintiff].” See
Weiss v. Regal Collections, 385 F.3d 337, 342 (3d Cir. 2004) (citing Sosna v. fowa, 419 U.S. 393, 399 (1975)).
“Litigation may continue because the stake of other class members is attributed to the class representative.” Brown
v. Phila. Hous. Auth., 350 F.3d 338, 343 (3d Cir. 2003). To the extent the inadequacy of Ms. Reardon’s disclosure
claim is a defect, it is one that Plaintiffs can readily cure with substitution of a new class representative as to that
claim, See, e.g., Carpenter v. Stephen F. Austin State Univ., 706 F.2d 608, 617-18 (5th Cir. 1983) (*[1]f after the
class has been certified and its claims heard and the representatives are found to be inadequate for some reason
during the course of the class claims . . ., the appropriate step is appointment of new representatives from the
existing class, not decertification.”).

11
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Turning to the remaining Disclosure Class members who received only the Authorization
Form it is necessary to determine whether, as it contends, ClosetMaid complied with its
disclosure obligations under section 1681b(b)(2)(A). The title of the Authorization Form states
in capital letters, “AUTHORIZATION TO OBTAIN A CONSUMER CREDIT REPORT AND
RELEASE OF INFORMATION FOR EMPLOYMENT PURPOSES.” The first paragraph of
the Authorization Form begins as follows:

Pursuant to the Fair Credit Reporting Act, I hereby authorize ClosetMaid and its

designated agents and representatives to conduct a comprehensive review of my

background through a consumer report and/or investigative consumer report to be

generated for employment, promotion, reassignment or retention as an

employment.
ECF No. 97-6 at 5. The subsequent paragraph of the Authorization Form explains the type of
information that may be included in the consumer report. /d. The third paragraph begins, “I []
authorize the complete release of these records or data pertaining to me which an individual,
company, firm, corporation, or public agency may have.” Id. The waiver of rights provision
appears in the fourth paragraph of the Authorization Form and states as follows: “I hereby
release ClosetMaid . . . from any and all liability for damages of whatever kind, which may at
any time, result to me . . . because of compliance with this authorization and request to release.”
Id Finally, the last paragraph of the Authorization Form states that, “pursuant to the [FCRA], if
any adverse action is to be taken based upon the consumer report, a copy of the report and a
summary of the consumer’s rights will be provided to me if requested.” /d.

According to Plaintiffs, ClosetMaid’s Authorization Form fails to provide a clear and
conspicuous disclosure, in violation of section 1681b(b)(2)(A)(1). In addition, Plaintiffs contend
that ClosetMaid’s inclusion of a waiver of rights provision facially contravenes section

1681b(b)(2)(A)(ii)’s requirement that the disclosure appear “in a document that consists solely of

the disclosure.” In support of this assertion, Plaintiffs cite to a Federal Trade Commission
12
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(“FTC”) opinion letter from 1998, which addresses the sufficiency of a combined disclosure and
authorization form containing a waiver of FCRA rights.” The Letter states as follows:

While we believe that you may combine the disclosure and authorization . . ., we

note that your draft disclosure includes a waiver by the consumer of his or her

rights under the FCRA. The inclusion of such a waiver in a disclosure form will

violate Section 604(b)(2)(A) of the FCRA, which requires that a disclosure

consist “solely” of the disclosure that a consumer report may be obtained for

employment purposes. Moreover, it is a general principle of law that benefits

provided to citizens by federal statute generally may not be waived by private

agreement unless Congress intended such a result.
Letter from William Haynes, Attorney, Div. of Credit Practices, Fed. Trade Comm’n, to Richard
W. Hauxwell, CEO, Accufax Div. (June 12, 1998), 1998 WL 34323756 (F.T.C.), 1 (“Hauxwell
FTC Letter”). Plaintiffs also cite to an FTC opinion letter from 1997, which provides that even
where an employer includes a disclosure in an employment application, “an employer that
follows this procedure must also clearly and conspicuously disclose in a completely separate
document that a consumer report may be obtained for employment purposes, as required by
[section 1681b(b)(2)(A)].” Letter from William Haynes, Attorney, Div. of Credit Practices, Fed.
Trade Comm’n, to Harold Hawkey, Employers Assoc. of N.J. (Dec. 18, 1997), 1997 WL
33791224 (F.T.C.), 1 (“Hawkey FTC Letter”). The Hawkey FTC Letter further clarifies that
“[n]othing else may appear on the document that detracts from the disclosure required by
[section 1681b(b)(2)(A)]. An employer may elect to obtain the consumer’s authorization on that
document, because that would focus the consumer’s attention on the disclosure and thus further
the purpose intended by the ‘separate document” provision of this section.” Id An additional

FTC opinion letter from 1997 provides as follows:

The reason for specifying a stand-alone disclosure was so that consumers will not
be distracted by additional information at the time the disclosure is given. We

* Although an opinion letter by an agency charged with administering a statute, such as the FTC, is not entitled to
“Chevron deference,” Chevron, US.A., Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 8§37, 863 (1984), it is well
established that it is entitled to “respect” and is persuasive. Christensen v, Harris Cnty., 529 U.S. 576, 587 (2000).

13
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believe that including an authorization in the same document with the disclosure .

.. will not distract from the disclosure itself; to the contrary, a consumer who is

required to authorize procurement of the report on the same document will be

more likely to focus on the disclosure. However, such a document should include

nothing more than the disclosure and the authorization for obtaining a consumer

report,

Letter from Cynthia Lamb, Investigator, Div. of Credit Practices, Fed. Trade Comm’n, to
Richard Steer, Jones Hirsch Connors & Bull, P.C. (Oct. 21, 1997),1997 WL 33791227 (F.T.C.),
1 {emphasis added) (“Steer FTC Letter™).

In response, ClosetMaid, relying on a case from the Western District of North Carolina,
contends that the proper test for whether inclusion of release language in a disclosure complies
with section 1681b(b)(2)(A) is whether the release language is “not so great a distraction”® as to
discount the effect of the disclosure. Smith v. Waverly Partners, LLC, 3:10-CV-00028-RLV,
2012 WL 3645324, at *6 (W.D.N.C. Aug. 23, 2012). ClosetMaid contends that its waiver of
rights provision is narrow in scope and pertains directly to its procurement of the applicant’s
authorization, a provision that is allowed to coexist in the same form as a disclosure pursuant to
section 1681b(b)(2)(A)(ii). In Smith, the court dismissed the plaintiff’'s FCRA claim on
summary judgment, finding that the waiver of rights language included in the employer’s
combined disclosure and authorization form was kept sufficiently distinct from the disclosure
language so as not to render it ineffective. Smith, 2012 WL 3645324 at *6. The court in
Singleton v. Domino’s Pizza, No. 11-1823, 2012 WL 245965 (D. Md. Jan. 25, 2012), however,
came to a different, and the Court believes correct, conclusion with regard to an employer’s

inclusion of a waiver of rights provision in a disclosure form. There, the court denied the

employer’s motion to dismiss the plaintiff’s section 1681b(b)(2)(A) claim, finding that “both the

® A construct not found in the FCRA, the applicable regulations, or in any agency guidance.
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statutory text and FTC advisory opinions indicate that an employer violates the FCRA by
including a liability release in a disclosure document.” Singleton, 2012 WL 245965 at *9.
Neither of these cases is binding on this Court; however, the Court agrees with the
analysis in Singleton, given the rather direct statutory language at issue. Specifically,
ClosetMaid’s inclusion of a release provision in the Authorization Form, which served as a
combined disclosure and authorization form for those Disclosure Class members who did rot
receive a Notice Form as part of their employment application, facially violates section
1681b(b)(2)(A)(i). Although the disclosure itself is arguably “clear and conspicuous” given that
the title of the Authorization Form appears in bold capital letters and explains that the consumer
report is for employment purposes, the Authorization Form simply does not comply with the
FCRA’s express requirement that the disclosure appear in a document that consists solely of the
disclosure (or, at most, a disclosure and authorization only). Even if the Court were to accept
ClosetMaid’s characterization of the waiver of rights provision as being narrowly tailored to
ClosetMaid’s procurement of the applicant’s authorization for the consumer report, and not a
“great distraction”, the release verbiage still is not an “authorization,” which is the only other
provision the FCRA allows in a valid disclosure form. To hold otherwise would have the Court
rewrite the applicable provision of the FCRA to include a “not a great distraction” safe harbor for
impermissible language, which, of course, it may not do. If that is to be done, it is a job for
Congress. Therefore, we grant Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment on the question of

liability as to the members of the Disclosure Class who received only the Authorization Form.’

’ The Court also rejects, for lack of a statutory or regulatory basis, ClosetMaid’s argument that the Authorization
Form is valid because nothing prohibits an “authorization” from including a release, and a “disclosure” may include
an “authorization,” and therefore, a “disclosure” which includes an “authorization” which includes a “release”
passes statutory muster. Such a multi-level bootstrapping approach to validating an otherwise invalid “disclosure”
runs counter to the actual statutory language at hand.

15



Case 2:08-cv-01730-MRH Document 157 Filed 12/02/13 Page 16 of 38

2. Willful Noncompliance

The FCRA permits a plaintiff to recover damages when a defendant acted either
negligently or willfully in violating the statute’s requirements. See 15 U.S.C. § 16810o(a)(1)
(providing that a plaintiff may recover actual damages in cases of negligent noncompliance); id.
§ 1681n(a)(1)-(3) (providing for actual, statutory, and/or punitive damages, along with attorney’s
fees in cases of willful noncompliance). In the absence of negligent or willful misconduct,
however, a plaintiff may not recover at all. See Safeco Ins. Co. v. Burr, 551 U.S. 47 (2007).

A defendant acts willfully under the FCRA by either knowingly or recklessly
disregarding its statutory duty. Safeco, 551 U.S. at 57-60. A defendant’s conduct is reckless
only if it was “objectively unreasonable” in light of “legal rules that were ‘clearly established’ at
the time.” Fuges v. Sw. Fin. Servs., Ltd., 707 F.3d 241, 249 (3d Cir. 2012) (citing Safeco, 551
U.S. at 69-70). However, where “the statutory text and relevant court and agency guidance
allow for more than one reasonable interpretation, it would defy history and current thinking to
treat a defendant who merely adopts one such interpretation as a knowing or reckless violator.”
Safeco, 551 U.S. at 70 n. 20. Thus, “even when a court disagrees with a party’s reading of
FCRA, it may not impose liability for a reckless, and therefore willful, violation of the statute
unless that party’s reading is ‘objectively unreasonable.”” Fuges, 707 F.3d at 249 (citing Safeco,
551 U.S. at 69). In other words, an employer “cannot be said to have willfully violated FCRA if
the company acted on a reasonable interpretation” of the FCRA. Id. at 248.

In Safeco, the Supreme Court concluded that the defendant’s violation of a different
provision of the FCRA “was not objectively unreasonable.” Id. at 70. According to the Court,
the defendant’s reading of the statute had “a foundation in the statutory text,” there were prior
appellate-level interpretations of the statutory provision, and there was a “dearth of [regulatory]

guidance” regarding “the less-than-pellucid statutory text.” Id.
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In Fuges, the Third Circuit applied these same three factors to determine whether a
defendant may benefit from the “safe harbor” of a “reasonable interpretation of FCRA’s
coverage.” 707 F.3d at 248. Specifically, the court looked to (1) the plain meaning of the
FCRA,; (2) whether the defendant’s application of the FCRA “had a ‘foundation in the statutory
text,”” id. at 252 (quoting Safeco, 551 U.S. at 69-70); and (3) the existence, or lack thereof, of
judicial or agency guidance that could support the defendant’s interpretation. Id. (quoting
Safeco, 551 U.S. at 70). Even in the absence of such guidance, however, a defendant does “not
receive a pass because the issue has never been decided.” Id. at 253 n. 21 (quoting Cortez v.
Trans Union, LLC, 617 F.3d 688, 722 (3d Cir. 2010)).

Here, the first and second factors weigh conclusively against ClosetMaid as the language
of section 1681b(b)(2)(A) is plain and clearly ascertainable.  According to section
1681b(b)(2)(A), the disclosure must be “clear and conspicuous” and set forth “in a document that
consists solely of the disclosure,” with the exception that the required written “authorization may
be made on the [same] document.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2)(A)(i)-(ii). ClosetMaid had no
obligation to obtain a waiver of rights from the consumer; in fact, doing so in a disclosure form
directly conflicted with the FCRA’s clear prohibition on an employer’s inclusion of any
additional provision, excluding the authorization itself, in the disclosure form. Unlike the FCRA
provision at issue in Safeco, which the Court regarded as “less-than-pellucid,” 551 U.S. at 70, the
statutory text here is unambiguous and not susceptible of differing interpretations.

As for the second prong, ClosetMaid argues that its Authorization Form derives its
content from the pertinent statutory text. We disagree. There is simply nothing in the statutory
text that would validate ClosetMaid’s interpretation that it is proper to include a waiver of rights

provision, even one narrowly tailored to ClosetMaid’s procurement of the applicant’s
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authorization for the consumer report, in a disclosure form. The statute itself cuts exactly the
other way.

Finally, we turn to a review of the relevant guidance from judicial and agency sources
that was available at the time the Authorization Form was in use. As discussed previously, the
Hauxwell FTC Letter explicitly advised against including any additional language, specifically, a
waiver of rights provision, in a disclosure form. The Steer FTC Letter also advised that a
disclosure form “should include nothing more than the disclosure and the authorization for
obtaining a consumer report.” 1997 WL 33791227. Additionally, the Hawkey FTC Letter
provides that “[n]othing else may appear on the document that detracts from the disclosure.”
1997 WL 33791224, Considering this agency guidance, all of which was available at the time
the Authorization Form was in use, ClosetMaid’s position with regard to its inclusion of a waiver
of rights provision in the Authorization Form is legally insupportable. The Authorization Form
is facially contrary to the statute at hand, and all of the administrative guidance on the questions.
ClosetMaid’s only support for its position is having its own position.®

There is no issue of material fact at issue as to this question.” ClosetMaid’s

Autho